
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Monday, 9 September 2019

Committee: 
North Planning Committee

Date: Tuesday, 17 September 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, 

Shropshire, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee Substitute Members of the Committee
Roy Aldcroft
Nicholas Bardsley
Gerald Dakin
Pauline Dee
Nat Green
Vince Hunt
Mark Jones
Pamela Moseley
Keith Roberts
Paul Wynn
David Vasmer

Joyce Barrow
Ted Clarke
Julian Dean
Steve Davenport
Hannah Fraser
Rob Gittins
Roger Hughes
Chris Mellings
Paul Milner
Peggy Mullock
Alexander Phillips

Your Committee Officer is: 

Emily Marshall  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257717
Email:  emily.marshall@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Election of Chairman 

To elect a Chairman for the ensuing year. 

2 Apologies for Absence 

To receive apologies for absence.

3 Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

To appoint a Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 

4 Minutes 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the North Planning Committee held on 23rd July 
2019, attached, marked 2.  Minutes to Follow

Contact: Emily Marshall on 01743 257717

5 Public Question Time 

To receive any public questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has been 
given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this meeting is Friday, 13th 
September at 2.00 p.m.

6 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on any 
matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the room 
prior to the commencement of the debate.

7 Orchard House, Wem Road, Harmer Hill, Shropshire, SY4 3DS (19/02525/VAR) 
(Pages 1 - 8)

Variation of condition 1 (approved plans) and condition 2 (footpath, access and parking) 
attached to planning permission reference  14/04893/FUL dated 11/05/2015 to reduce the 
length of the proposed roadside footpath.

8 Colehurst Manor, Colehurst, Market Drayton, Shropshire, TF9 2JB (16/04620/VAR) 
(Pages 9 - 30)

Variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/FUL to allow the 
erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of new access

9 Swan Hill Depot, Swan Hill, Ellesmere, Shropshire (19/02633/FUL) (Pages 31 - 40)

Erection of a timber building to act as a Cafe/Visitor Centre

10 Prospect House, Belle Vue Road, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY3 7NR (19/02572/FUL) 
(Pages 41 - 56)

Erection of 2no semi-detached dwellings



11 Appeals and Appeal Decisions (Pages 57 - 64)

12 Date of the Next Meeting 

To note that the next meeting of the North Planning Committee will be held at 
2.00 pm on Tuesday 15th October 2019 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Shrewsbury.





Committee and Date

North Planning Committee

17th September 2019

Item

7
Public

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
Email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 19/02525/VAR Parish: Myddle Broughton And 
Harmer Hill 

Proposal: Variation of condition 1 (approved plans) and condition 2 (footpath, access and 
parking) attached to planning permission reference  14/04893/FUL dated 11/05/2015 to 
reduce the length of the proposed roadside footpath.

Site Address: Orchard House  Wem Road Harmer Hill Shropshire SY4 3DS

Applicant: Mr Christopher Shaw

Case Officer: Richard Denison email: planningdmne@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 349111 - 322138

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

Recommendation:- Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 This is a variation of conditions application which relates to the approved plans for a 
small housing scheme on the edge of Harmer Hill. Planning permission was granted 
for seven dwellings and included the provision of a roadside footway helping to link 
up the village. The development is complete, although only a small section of footpath 
has been constructed along the roadside. This application seeks to vary the approved 
footway to reduce the length of the footpath.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The proposed housing development is located to the south of the main B5476 which 
runs through Harmer Hill from Wem to Shrewsbury. The site was a small enclosed 
field with residential properties to the north, east and west, whilst agricultural land was 
to the south. A single vehicular access point has been constructed, together will a 
small section of roadside pavement. All of the properties are detached and have a 
bespoke design. Shotton Lane and The Hollow are located to the north and provide 
junctions with the B5476, whilst the junction with the A528 Ellesmere to Shrewsbury 
Road is located to the south west. A pavement is provided on the north west side of 
the B5476 and links in the village.

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 

3.1 The Parish Council and local ward member have submitted a view contrary to officers 
based on material planning reasons which cannot reasonably be overcome by 
negotiation or the imposition of planning conditions. The Principal Planning Officer in 
consultation with the committee chairmen agrees that the Parish Council and local 
ward member have raised material planning issues having regard that the proposed 
footpath is surrounded by residential development and the proposal is in relation to a 
housing scheme consisting of a number of dwelling. It is considered that this 
application should be determined by committee.

4.0 COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIONS

4.1 Consultee Comments

4.1.1 Shropshire Council, Highways Development Control - The application seeks to 
vary conditions to reduce the length of footway to be constructed along the Class II 
Road from the site access to Shotton Lane. The application to vary the required 
footway provision is submitted on the basis that whilst a section of footway has been 
constructed from the site access in accordance with the planning consent granted on 
the site, the applicant/developer considers that the full footway connection to Shotton 
Lane is not necessary and provides reasons in this regard. In considering the current 
application Shropshire Council as the Highway Authority has to consider whether 
permission for the residential development would have otherwise been refused if the 
full length of the footway between the site access and Shotton Lane were not 
provided. Whilst the Highway Authority supports the provision of a footway, as is 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

currently required under existing consents and would potentially benefit pedestrian 
movement in the locality, the Authority considers that the footway provision to the 
Shotton Lane junction is not a fundamental requirement of the development in the 
context of the local environment. A continuous footway is available on the opposite 
side of the Class II road from the site, however it is noted that a dropped crossing 
point between the new extent of footway and opposite does not exist. This therefore 
should be provided and should be a pre-requisite of this application being granted.

4.1.2 Myddle and Broughton Parish Council - Members strongly object to this proposal 
with the included statement that the footpath is now unnecessary. It was deemed 
necessary in the original application and planning approval was granted on the 
understanding that the path would be constructed. With the construction of the new 
housing it is more essential as it will provide a protected route for pedestrians 
alongside this busy road with fast moving traffic. It is felt that the terms of the agreed 
application should be adhered to and this application be refused.

4.2 Public Comments

4.2.1 Five letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:

 No path on the Shotton Lane corner so crossing the main road is currently 
done on the highway.

 Safety to pedestrians.
 The path would be used by local residents.

4.2.2 One letter has been received from local ward member Cllr Brian Williams who has 
raised the following comments:

“I object because I have seldom come across so blatant a case of bad faith by a 
developer as this application demonstrates. The footpath was voluntarily offered by 
the developer at planning application stage as a "sweetener" to get local people to 
not oppose it since there would a general public benefit from the new tarmacked path. 
It would be much easier for elderly people who need walking sticks or disabled people 
who use wheelchairs to use a surfaced footway rather than a grass verge. The 
developer’s plea for the welfare of the milestone is a "red herring". there are many 
milestones on public footways which have survived for generations. It is touching 
though that the applicants are trying to convince planners that this is not just about 
saving them money but is due to their new found consideration for the welfare of the 
natural environment and their concern for the supposed detrimental effect that the 
footpath would have on the village community. If the developers had brought their 
case to the Parish Council before putting in their application they would have got a 
sense of the widespread cynicism that is aroused by their attempted opportunism to 
save themselves from the cost of something which they had promised.”

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

 Background
 Highways

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

6.1 Background

6.1.1 Planning permission was granted in May 2015 for the erection of six detached 
dwellings. This application included the provision of a 1.5 metre wide pavement along 
the B5476 roadside up to Shotton Lane (a distance of approximately 125 metres). 
This would provide pedestrian access along the south eastern side of the road and 
provide improved pedestrian linkage within the village and access to local services. 
The developer has constructed a 27 metre section of this footpath which is located 
directly in front of the new roadside dwelling approved in December 2011, although it 
does not extend up to Shotton Lane. The development is complete, although 
concerns have been raised that the footpath does not link into Shotton Lane as 
approved and required by condition 2 of the decision notice. This condition states that 
the footway provision, visibility splays, access, parking and turning areas shall be 
satisfactorily completed and laid out in accordance with the approved drawings prior 
to any of the dwellings being occupied. This was to ensure the formation and 
construction of a satisfactory access and parking facilities in the interests of highway 
safety. There was no mention in the reason for the condition to provide improved 
pedestrian access for local residents or justification that the footpath was essential to 
allow this residential development. This current application now seeks to vary the 
approved plans to remove the necessity to provide the full length of the footpath.

6.2 Highways

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

The application seeks to vary conditions to reduce the length of footway to be 
constructed along the Class II road from the site access to Shotton Lane. The 
application to vary the required footway provision is submitted on the basis that whilst 
a section of footway has been constructed from the site access in accordance with 
the planning consent granted on the site, the applicant/developer considers that the 
full footway connection to Shotton Lane is not necessary.

The developer has indicated that pedestrian traffic along Wem Road is minimal with 
only the Bridgewater Arms providing a local facility. Any pedestrians that do need to 
walk can use the existing footpath on the other side of the road. The replacement of 
a soft grass verge in this rural village with a tarmac footpath would result in a more 
urban appearance and be detrimental to the rural character. An existing listed mile 
stone sits in the grass verge close to the entrance of Orchard House and would be 
affected by the pavement works. Concerns are also raised that the proposed footpath 
would not be served by street lights which are provided on the existing footpath on 
the opposite side of the road.

The proposed pavement would only serve 3 dwellings along the south eastern side 
of the B5476 and 11 dwellings along Shotton Lane. There is no pavement along the 
south eastern side between Shotton Lane to Godings Lane and therefore those 
residents would have to cross the road and use the pavement to the north western 
side of the B5476.

Harmer Hill has limited services which include the Bridgewater Arms public house, a 
Premier Inn hotel and village hall. The most direct and safest pedestrian route is for 
residents living to the south east of the B5476 is to cross the road and use the existing 
pavement. This allows residents to gain access to the crossing point at the junction 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

6.2.5

of the A528 and B5476 to gain access to the public house and hotel or walk along 
The Hollow to the A528 which provides access towards the village hall. The only 
benefit the pavement would provide would to enable residents living to the south east 
of the B5476 to visit each other without crossing the road.

In considering the current application the Highway Authority has to consider whether 
permission for the residential development would have otherwise been refused if the 
full length of the footway between the site access and Shotton Lane were not 
provided. Whilst the Highway Authority supports the provision of a footway which 
would potentially benefit pedestrian movement in the locality, the Authority considers 
that the footway provision to the Shotton Lane junction is not a fundamental 
requirement of the development in the context of the local environment. A continuous 
footway is available on the opposite side of the Class II road from the site, however it 
is noted that a dropped crossing point between the new extent of footway and 
opposite does not exist. Highways have therefore requested that this crossing point 
should be a pre-requisite of this application being granted. The developer has agreed 
to install a crossing point and this would be completed within 6 months from the date 
of any decision due to the necessity to have formal highway agreements in place with 
the highways authority.

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.1

7.2

The reduction in the length of the footway and provision of pedestrian crossing point 
will not result in any pedestrian highway safety concerns and will enable residents of 
the approved dwellings to provide easy access to local facilities within Harmer Hill.

In arriving at this decision the Council has used its best endeavours to work with the 
applicants in a positive and proactive manner to secure an appropriate outcome as 
required in the National Planning Policy Framework.

8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT AND OPPORTUNITIES APPRAISAL

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they 
disagree with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be 
awarded irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal - written 
representations, a hearing or inquiry.

 The decision is challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural 
justice. However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, 
rather than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although 
they will interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or 
perverse. Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not 
its planning merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be a) promptly 
and b) in any event not later than 6 weeks after the grounds to make the claim 
first arose first arose.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against non-
determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 give the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 1 
allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced against 
the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County in the 
interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the public 
at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a number of 
‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in planning committee members’ 
minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1970.

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are likely financial implications of the decision and/or imposition of conditions 
if challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of defending any 
decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependant on the scale and nature 
of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of being taken into account 
when determining this planning application – in so far as they are material to the 
application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for the decision maker.

10.0 BACKGROUND

10.1 Relevant Planning Policies

Policies material to the determination of the Application. In determining this 
application the Local Planning Authority gave consideration to the following policies:-

National Planning Policy Framework:

Shropshire Council Core Strategy (February 2011):
CS6 : Sustainable Design and Development Principles

Site Allocations and Management Development Plan (December 2016):
MD2 : Sustainable Design

10.2 Relevant Planning History

16/4839/AMP - Non material amendment to reduce in size of single storey element 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

and internal alterations to plot 7 attached to planning permission reference 
14/04893/REM. Granted 1st November 2016.

16/02585/AMP - Non material amendment for alterations to garage block so as to 
serve plots 4 and 5 attached to planning permission reference 14/04893/REM for the 
approval of reserved matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 
pursuant to planning permission 13/04939/OUT for residential development of 6 
houses including new access and associated drainage works. Granted 13th June 
2016.

14/04893/REM - Erection of 6 houses including new access and associated drainage 
works. Granted 11th May 2015.

13/04939/OUT - Outline planning application for a residential development of 6 
houses including new access and associated drainage works. Granted 29th July 2014.

11/02366/FUL - Erection of one detached dwelling and formation of new vehicular 
access. Granted 13th December 2011.

11.0 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

List of Background Papers - Planning Application reference 19/02525/VAR

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder) - Cllr Gwilym Butler

Local Member - Cllr Brian Williams

Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 7 – Orchard House, Harmer Hill

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans and 
drawings 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

  2. Details of the provision of uncontrolled crossing points on the site side and at a 
corresponding point on the opposite side of the Class II Road shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and the agreed details shall be fully 
implemented within 6 months of the granting of consent.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access to the highway.



Committee and Date

North Planning Committee

17th September 2019

Item

8
Public

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
Email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 16/04620/VAR Parish: Sutton Upon Tern 

Proposal: Variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/FUL to allow 
the erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of new 
access

Site Address: Colehurst Manor Colehurst Market Drayton Shropshire TF9 2JB

Applicant: Mr Justin Patnicroft

Case Officer: Sue Collins email: planningdmne@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 366085 - 331261

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference 
purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

Recommendation:-   Approval subject to the conditions as set out in Appendix 1.

Recommended Reason for Approval 

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is for a variation of the approved plans for the residential 

development on land adjacent to Colehurst Manor.

1.2 Planning permission reference 12/02874/FUL was for a detached dwelling to be 
constructed which was of a very modern design and set into the ground to 
reduce its visual impact.  This was granted on the 13th December 2013.  The 
planning permission was implemented by the 5th December 2016 as confirmed 
by an email from the Agent and Building Control records.
 

1.3 Since the submission of the application a number of different propositions have 
been put forward.  It is on the basis of the plans received on the 1st August 2019 
that this report has been written.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION
2.1 The site is a parcel of land located to the east of Colehurst Manor and is within 

close proximity of barns which have been converted into residential properties.  
The barns and Old Colehurst Manor are Listed buildings and as such any 
development of this site will need to take into consideration the setting of the 
development in relation to these structures.  

2.2 The land is located in an area of open countryside and is currently laid to grass.  
To the side of the plot there is the access drive to the barn conversions and to 
additional agricultural buildings.  The land rises towards the north west with the 
boundaries mainly being defined by hedgerow.  The site is also very close to a 
sharp bend in the highway and it has a high prominence within the landscape.

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 
3.1 The scheme complies with the delegation to Officers as set out in Part 8 of the 

Shropshire Council Constitution.

4.0 COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIONS full details of the responses can be 
viewed online

4.1 Consultee Comments
4.1.1 Parish Council:

Response Received 23rd July 2019
The Parish Council upholds it's objection to this application in that it is not the 
eco house which it supported as an exception to policy, members felt very 
strongly that this should be treated as a new application and not as a variation. 
The Parish Council feels that there are material planning considerations in terms 
of the Historic Environment and the heritage assets within this part of North 
Shropshire which are set out in MD13 and would urge Shropshire Council to 
refuse this application as not to deters from that Historic Environment and 
undermines it for future generations. 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

Members also requested that a request be made that the application be heard 
by committee and Cllr Michael Dams the Vice Chairman of the Parish Council 
has agreed to attend any meetings to speak against the application as it stands

Response Received 16th July 2019
The Parish Council sustains its original  objections to the above application as 
previously stated.

Response Received 26th April 2018
The Parish Council has always supported the exception to policy for an 'eco 
house' at this location; although the amendments in design try to be more in 
keeping with other barn conversions the fundamental objections still remains in 
that the variation is not in keeping with the original reason for the exception to 
policy and should therefore be treated as a new application.

Response Received 17.11.16
Sutton upon Tern Parish Council met yesterday to consider 16/04620/VAR 
variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/VAR to allow 
the erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of 
new access; in doing so the Parish Council makes the following observations 
with the assumption that this application has superseded 16/04620/FUL 
previously circulated.

The observations are as follows:
*    that any external works are in keeping with the 'open plan' nature of the site 
and it's setting, for example only post and rail fencing.
*    that all building materials used are in keeping and sympathetic to the historic 
setting of the surrounding hamlet of Colehurst.

4.1.2 Affordable Housing: 
As the variation does not impact on the number of dwellings our previous 
comments stand. Any conditions attached to the original application needs to be 
provided for in any new decision and a variation to the original S106 will be 
required.

4.1.3 Conservation: No objection

The subject property is currently in use as a paddock on which there is an 
earlier planning permission for the provision of an innovative, sensitively 
designed eco-dwelling. 

This application is purely to vary an extant consent and relates to the 
appearance of the dwelling which was previously given consent on this site.

It is considered that whilst the shape of the dwelling has not been amended to 
reflect the previous dwelling approved or officer comments made, the scale and 
massing has, following discussions.

In considering this application special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
designated heritage assets and their settings in line with Section 66 of the 
above Act has been made.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

Historic England: No comment

Highways: No objection subject to the development being constructed in 
accordance with the approved details and the following conditions and 
informative notes.
Observations/Comments:
The application is seeking approval for the change of design and layout of the 
approved dwelling under reference 12/02874/FUL.
Further to the Highway Advice Note dated 16.11.2016 the revised Block Plan 
(Drawing No. PL-001 Rev B) has indicated the latest revised dwelling footprint 
within the site.
The principle of the development continues to raise no highway objection but 
the latest Block Plan lacks clarity in terms of the proposed parking and turning 
arrangements within the site. A minimum of 2 parking spaces should be 
provided.
It is considered that, subject to the recommended conditions being included on 
any approval, there are no sustainable Highway grounds upon which to base an 
objection:

SUDS: No Objection subject to the inclusion of the recommended conditions on 
any planning permission that may be granted.

4.2 Public Comments
4.2.1 Letters of representation have been received from 17 different people.  A 

number of personal comments have been made and these have not been 
included as they are not material planning considerations and cannot be used to 
determine the application.  In addition comments have been made in relation to 
works on the adjacent barn conversion scheme and its maintenance.  This is not 
relevant in determining this application as that was works in association with a 
different scheme and different circumstances.

The comments in support of the proposal are as follows:

- Planning permission has been previously granted on this site for a 
dwelling and this is a variation on that approval.

- It will allow for multi-generational living
- A more traditional style in keeping with the area
- No impact on Farmstead atmosphere
- It’s a family home not a for profit developer
- Proposal is a smaller dwelling than previously approved
- Home office is to be incorporated into the dwelling 
- No impact on residential amenities to neighbouring properties either 

through loss of light, privacy or noise.
- Large changes took place with the conversion of the neighbouring barns 

including extensions and creation of gardens.
- Subsequent changes to the plans will cost the applicant more money for 

the build.
- Objectors have not viewed the submitted plans in detail
- The proposed design was in response to objections from residents
- The view of the building from the private drive has been reduced from 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

that previously approved.
- The proposed scheme is eco friendly as was the original.
- Objectors do not live adjacent to the site and have moved to the area 

after the previous approval was granted.

The following comments have been made in objection to the proposed 
development:

- The planning permission must now have lapsed and therefore cannot be 
varied 

- No substantial start has been made to the previous approval
- Proposal is contrary to adopted policies and other applications for new 

dwellings in the area have been refused
- Lack of discussion between applicant and neighbours
- This development would set a precedent for development in Colehurst
- Development is not in keeping with the character of the area.
- Needs to respect the setting and character of the nearby Grade II listed 

buildings and the original farmstead.
- Insufficient information provided in relation to details such as windows 

doors etc and the materials they will be constructed of.
- The building will be highly visible in the area given its elevated position.
- External materials not in keeping with other buildings in the area.
- The separate garage has been positioned to destroy the entrance to the 

farmstead as demonstrated by the photomontages
- The development will cause a loss of the open nature of the area.
- Access will be via a single width highway with limited passing paces
- Rather than opening up a new access why not use the existing driveway 

to the side of the site.  This would lessen the impact on the highway.
- No facilities exist in the settlement or public transport within easy walking 

distance.
- The new development does not respect the previous conditions imposed.
- The building would obstruct views over the surrounding area.
- The development would exacerbate flooding to the access drive to the 

barn conversions.
- Use of the premises as a music studio would not be in keeping with the 

surrounding uses
- There is a significant level of wildlife in the area that would be affected by 

the development.
-

Letters have been submitted by the applicant in response to comments made to 
the application.  The main points made are as follows:

- Asserts that discussion has taken place with neighbours and that he has 
tried to amend the design to take into account these concerns.

- Explains the differences between the approved and proposed dwelling.
- Home Office now part of the dwelling to reduce overheads and to be 

more sustainable.
- Applicant considers design more in keeping with others in Colehurst than 

the previous approved design.
- Previous dwelling was never described as an eco home although it would 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

be built to Level 5 of the Code for sustainable Homes.
- Block plans are never to scale.
- Additional landscaping will be carried out

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES
 Principle of Development
 Design, Scale and Character
 Impact on Residential Amenity
 Highways
 Other Matters 

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL
6.1 Policy & principle of development
6.1.1 Under section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Since the 
adoption of the Councils Core Strategy the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) has been published and is a material consideration that needs to be 
given weight in the determination of planning applications.  The NPPF advises 
that proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should 
be approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless 
other material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities as a material consideration to be given 
significant weight in determining applications.

6.1.2 A number of comments have been made regarding the previous approval and 
that the planning permission obtained was outline and that it has now expired.  
As such the construction of a new dwelling on this site would be contrary to the 
principle of housing development in this area.

6.1.3 Full planning permission for the construction of a dwelling on this site was 
granted 13th December 2013 with three years in which to implement the 
development.  Confirmation was received from the Agent that works 
commenced by the 5th December 2013 and this has been confirmed by the 
Council’s Building Control Officers.  Therefore, the original planning permission 
is extant and the applicant could continue to construct the dwelling as approved.  

6.1.4 In this case with the application being a variation to this extant permission the 
principle of the development remains for approval.  However, this is subject to 
the proposal being in compliance with other national and local polices.  This will 
include such detail as the scale and design etc.  Each of these will be discussed 
further in this report.

6.2 Affordable Housing 
6.2.1 As the proposal is for a variation to the original application, the development 

remains liable to an affordable housing contribution.  As such the affordable 
housing contribution is required and payment is outstanding.  Should this 
variation to the approved plans be submitted  Had development not commenced 
under the existing approval the applicant would be required to enter into a new 
S106 legal agreement to ensure this is paid.  However, as they have 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

implemented the scheme, they are liable to the payment already.

6.2.2 If the payment is not made and this application is approved, the applicant will be 
required to enter into a new legal agreement to ensure that the payment is 
made.  Given the length of time that has elapsed since payment should have 
been made under the original approval, a shorter period of time will be allowed 
for the payment under this consent.

6.3 Design, Scale and Character
6.3.1 Policy CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development Principles’ of the Shropshire 

Core Strategy requires development to protect and conserve the built 
environment and be appropriate in scale, density, pattern and design taking into 
account the local context and character. The development should also 
safeguard residential and local amenity, ensure sustainable design and 
construction principles are incorporated within the new development. The 
National Planning Policy Framework indicates that great weight should be given 
to outstanding or innovative designs which help raise the standard of design 
more generally in the area.  In addition, policy MD2 of SAMDev builds on policy 
CS6 and deals with the issue of sustainable design.

6.3.2 As a countryside location policy CS5 is also a relevant policy under which to 
consider the proposal and because of its close proximity to listed buildings 
policies CS17 and MD13 are also relevant.

6.3.3 A number of concerns have been raised regarding the design and scale of the 
development and that it will not be an eco-building as previously approved and 
that it is out of keeping with the character of the area.  Most notably the barn 
conversion schemes to the rear of the site.  Reference has also been made to 
application reference 11/01752/FUL which was refused on 8th July 2011.  

6.3.4 Application 11/01751/FUL was for a large 2 storey building and this was refused 
for the following reason:  

The proposed dwelling will constitute the provision of a new residential unit in 
isolated open countryside and would be contrary to the principles for residential 
development in the countryside and would not result in the provision of a 
sustainable form of development and would therefore be contrary to Planning 
Policy Statement 7 ‘Sustainable Development in Rural Areas’ and Policy CS5 
‘Countryside and Green Belt’ of the Shropshire Core Strategy.

It is noted in the officer report while the proposed dwelling is large it was 
considered to be  in a reasonably spacious plot and would reflect the character 
of neighbouring properties.  As such no objection was raised by Officers to the 
proposal on the grounds of scale or design.

6.3.5 The approval on which this variation is requested reference 12/02874/FUL was 
for a detached dwelling and was approved for the following reason:

The proposal is a departure to the development plan in that the site is situated 
within open countryside and is contrary to CS5.  However there are other 
material considerations that should be given weight in setting aside the adopted 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

policy.   Although Colehurst is currently classified as open countryside and 
currently has no adopted policy which would allow unrestricted open market 
dwellings the settlement is being promoted as a community cluster by the local 
Parish Council. The proposed dwelling will be subject to an affordable housing 
contribution and community infrastructure levy payment and it is considered that 
on balance the early release of this site for residential development will provide 
community benefits, albeit that it would be a departure from policy. The 
proposed design and layout will respect neighbouring properties and will not 
result in any detrimental impact from either overlooking or loss of privacy, cause 
an overbearing impact or result in loss of light. The existing boundary trees and 
hedging will be retained, whilst the proposed development will not impact on any 
protected species. The proposed access will provide adequate visibility in both 
directions for emerging vehicles, whilst a suitable level of off street car parking 
and manoeuvring space is provided.

6.3.6 Despite the comments made by local residents the approval was not granted on 
the basis of the proposal being an eco dwelling or being of innovative design but 
for the reason that at the time Colehurst was being considered for inclusion in 
the Cluster.

6.3.7 For reference an eco dwelling is not solely reliant on is design but is more to do 
with its construction.  As explained by the applicant in one of his responses, the 
proposed dwelling would be constructed to a Level 5 standard as set out in the 
Code for sustainable Homes which is dealt with separately from planning.  To 
achieve eco home status this would need to be to a level 6.  

6.3.8 The previous approval was for a contemporary two storey building built into the 
ground with a separate building to be used as an office and studio/recording 
room.

6.3.9 The proposal submitted on the 1st August 2019 is for a long building located 
parallel to the northern boundary of the site on a line with the agricultural 
building located to the east of the site.  This would comprise a two storey and 
single storey section.  The two storey section would comprise a kitchen/dining 
room, lounge, utility, cloak room and entrance hall on the ground floor with three 
bedrooms, bathroom and en-suite and dressing room.  The single storey section 
will include a large entrance hall, office store, WC, Office and double garage.  
Externally the building has been design to reflect a converted barn, using cedar 
cladding, brickwork, and clay tiles to the roof.  

6.3.10 In order to reduce the visual impact of the structure the ground level will be 
reduced so that it will sit level with the highway.  The roof pitch to the two storey 
part of the structure has also been changed and as such reduced its height 
further.  

6.3.11 In relation to its external appearance it is a mix of contemporary design while 
trying to reflect a barn conversion.  While changes have been carried out to the 
scheme to improve the appearance, Officers are of the opinion that there would 
still be room for improvement.  However the advice of officers given since the 
submission of the application has only been taken up in part and is now 
considered to be at a point where it would be difficult to sustain an objection or 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

refusal on these grounds.  It will be the attention to detail in the finishing of the 
build that will ensure the success of this development.  In order to ensure these 
are to a high standard conditions have been recommended for inclusion on any 
consent that may be issued.

6.3.12 In relation to the setting of the building with nearby listed buildings, this has 
been carefully considered by the Conservation Officer.  The scheme as 
amended is considered to not have a detrimental impact on their setting, given 
its lower height and distance from these heritage assets.  

6.3.13 Overall it is considered that the overall design, scale, and position of the building 
are acceptable in this sensitive location.  As such the proposal is considered to 
be in accordance with the NPPF and policies CS5, CS6, CS17, MD2 and MD13 
of the Shropshire LDF.

6.4 Impact on Residential Amenity
6.4.1 Policy CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development Principles’ of the Shropshire 

Core Strategy indicates that development should safeguard the residential and 
local amenity. 

6.4.2 A number of concerns have been raised regarding the potential loss of privacy 
and views over the landscape as a result of the development.  In addition, noise 
has also been raised as an issue both during the construction of the dwelling 
and from the use of the music studio proposed in the dwelling.

6.4.3 Firstly, people do not have a right to a view and therefore the issues regarding 
not being able to view sunsets or fields is not a material planning consideration 
that can be used to justify recommending the application for refusal.  

6.4.4 In regard to loss of privacy. It is noted that rear boundary of the application is 
separated from the Dairy Barn by the remainder of the paddock.  There is a 
distance approximately 40 metres between the rear boundary of the application 
site and the front wall of The Dairy Barn.  There is no adopted policy in relation 
to distances between dwellings, however a general guide is a minimum of 21 
metres uninterrupted views should be maintained.  In this instance the distance 
exceeds this minimum required and there is also sufficient distance between the 
proposed building and the corner of New Colehurst Manor to also not be 
affected.  Therefore it is considered that the proposal will not result in an 
unacceptable loss of privacy.

6.4.5 The music studio could create noise depending on how it is used.  From the 
information provided by the applicant and in his subsequent letters, it would 
appear that recordings are made off site and the studio/office is used to work on 
the recordings.  This would not therefore necessarily cause the emission of 
noise assumed by many of the objectors.  However, if it were to become a 
statutory noise issue, there is other legislation which is able to deal with the 
matter.

6.4.6 To deal with the issue of construction noise a condition could be imposed which 
would restrict the hours of working on the site.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

6.4.7 Overall while a number of concerns have been raised, Officers are of the 
opinion that there is insufficient justification to demonstrate that the proposal will 
have a detrimental impact on the residential amenities of the area.   Therefore 
the proposal is in accordance with policy CS6 of the Shropshire Core Strategy.

6.5 Highways
6.5.1 Concerns have been expressed regarding the impact the proposal will have on 

the local highway network.

6.5.2 As previously stated this is a variation to the approved plan relating to the house 
only.  Therefore the proposal does not affect the proposed means of access that 
has previously been approved.  No refusal of this application can be justified for 
this reason.

6.6 Ecology
6.6.1 Similarly as with highways the proposal is looking at the amendment of the 

house only not the principle of development.  While today the ecology surveys 
would be considered out of date, at the time the application was submitted there 
was no requirement for new surveys to be submitted.  As the objector has 
pointed out there is no evidence to suggest that there are Great Crested Newts 
in the pond.

6.6.2 As the current approved dwelling could continue to be constructed it would be 
unreasonable to insist on any new surveys being undertaken.  However 
informatives will be included to advise the applicant/developer of their duty in 
relation to dealing with statutorily protected species and habitats.

6.7 Other Matters
6.7.1 A number of personal comments have been made by parties in relation to this 

application.  Personal criticism and hearsay are not material planning 
considerations and cannot be used in the determination of planning 
applications.  Therefore none of these have been referred to within this report.

6.7.2 Comments have been received stating that the planning history for the site has 
not been revealed to them when they purchased properties.  The onus is on the 
proposed purchaser when they carryout local searches to identify land that they 
wish to know about.  Unless requested by their clients, generally solicitors will 
only search on the property being bought.  Therefore the applicant cannot be 
held responsible if the extant permission has not been revealed to them.  Nor 
can this be used as a reason to justify refusing any further applications that may 
be submitted for the site.

6.7.3 A number of local residents have also complained that the applicant has not 
corresponded or discussed with them the proposed development.  There is no 
requirement in Planning Legislation that requires an applicant to do this prior to 
the submission of an application.  While it is preferable that an application 
discusses proposals with a neighbour it is not a required and therefore this also 
is irrelevant in determining the application. 

6.7.4 The issue of Human rights has been raised.  This is discussed in para 8.2 
below.  However it should be remembered that all including the applicant have 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

rights under the legislation.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 On balance in view of the above it is the opinion of officers that the proposed 

design and scale of the dwelling is acceptable and it will not have a detrimental 
impact on the character and appearance of the area.  It will also not have a 
detrimental impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings.  Therefore subject to 
the applicant entering into the new legal agreement to secure the payment of 
the affordable housing contribution, the development protects and enhances the 
historic environment and is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and 
policies CS5, CS6, CS17, MD2 and MD13 of the Shropshire LDF.  

8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT AND OPPORTUNITIES APPRAISAL
8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they 
disagree with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be 
awarded irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal - written 
representations, a hearing or inquiry.

 The decision is challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural 
justice. However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, 
rather than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although 
they will interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or 
perverse. Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not 
its planning merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be a) promptly 
and b) in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the 
claim first arose first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights
Article 8 give the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the 
County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in planning 
committee members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1970.

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are likely financial implications of the decision and/or imposition of 

conditions if challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependant on 
the scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable 
of being taken into account when determining this planning application – in so far 
as they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter 
for the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:

West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy Policies:

Core Strategy and Saved Policies:

National Planning Policy Framework
CS5 - Countryside and Greenbelt
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS17 - Environmental Networks
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD13 - Historic Environment
CS11 - Type and Affordability of housing
SPD Type and Affordability of Housing

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

NS/04/00833/LBC Alterations to Grade II listed barn to facilitate conversion of redundant farm 
buildings to 6 units, incorporating 5 live/work units and 1 residential unit to include provision of 
roof lights and new window/door openings, together with demolition and removal of existing 
buildings and structures CONAPP 20th October 2005
NS/04/00834/FUL Conversion of redundant farm buildings to 6 units, incorporating 5 live/work 
units and 1 residential unit, together with demolition and removal of existing buildings and 
structures CONAPP 20th October 2005
NS/05/00606/ENQ Proposed use and development on plots 4 and 7 REC 
NS/05/00790/ENQ Potato Packing and Distribution Business REC 
NS/06/01561/FUL Removal of agricultural occupancy condition imposed by Planning 
Permission SU63/672 CONAPP 28th September 2006
NS/06/01988/ENQ Compliance with Agricultural Occpancy Restriction REC 
NS/07/00064/DOC Discharge of Condition No:20 in connection with Planning Application No: 
N/04/825/SU/27 REC 
NS/08/01552/ENQ Erection of a single storey outbuilding REC 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

11/01752/FUL Erection of a detached 3 bedroomed dwelling and installation of a septic tank 
REFUSE 8th July 2011
PREAPP/12/00035 Erection of a detached dwelling PREUDV 29th February 2012
12/02874/FUL Erection of one detached dwelling and ancillary office/studio accommodation; 
formation of vehicular access; installation of septic tank GRANT 13th December 2013
13/04528/FUL Erection of two detached dwellings and detached garages REFUSE 10th July 
2014
PREAPP/16/00374 Erection of a detached dwelling PREAIP 1st October 2016
16/04620/VAR Variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/FUL to allow 
the erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of new access 
PCO 
16/05165/DIS Discharge of conditions 3 (external materials), 4 (commencement of ground 
works), 5 (landscape scheme) and 6 (foul/surface water drainage) relating to planning 
permission 12/02874/FUL for the erection of a single detached dwelling with ancillary home 
office/studio accommodation GRANT 29th November 2016
NS/02/00610/REM Removal of agricultural occupancy condition attached to p.p. 65/672 Outline 
dated 14.4.65 REFUSE 5th September 2002
NS/03/00258/FUL Conversion of redundant agricultural buildings to form 7 dwellings REFUSE 
17th July 2003
NS/03/00459/REM Removal of Condition No. 2 attached to Planning Permission 68/65/672 
dated 14.04.1965 to allow occupation by non agricultural workers. REFUSE 17th July 2003
NS/07/01587/ENQ Enquiry regarding the access road REC 
NS/08/00307/FUL Application Under Section 73A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
to allow the conversion of 3no barns into 3no residential units CONAPP 30th April 2008
NS/08/00366/FUL Application Under Section 73a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
to allow the conversion of three barns into one dwelling CONAPP 29th May 2008
NS/08/00387/LBC  Application Under Section 73a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
for works to a listed building to facilitate the conversion of three barns to one dwelling CONAPP 
29th May 2008
PREAPP/11/01041 Proposed variations to previously approved schemes NOOBJC 4th May 
2011
11/02025/VAR Variation of Condition No.1 (elevations) attached to planning permission 
08/00307/FUL dated 30th April 2008 for application under Section 73a of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to allow the conversion of 3 No. barns into 3 No. residential units 
GRANT 16th August 2011
11/02026/VAR Variation of Condition No.1 (elevations) attached to planning permission 
08/00366/FUL dated 29th May 2008 for application under Section 73a of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to allow the conversion of three barns into one dwelling GRANT 16th August 
2011
11/02028/LBC Application under Section 73a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
allow the conversion of three barns into one dwelling affecting a Grade II Listed Building 
(Amendments to previously approved scheme reference 08/00387/LBC) GRANT 16th August 
2011
16/04620/VAR Variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/FUL to allow 
the erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of new access 
PCO 
12/02874/FUL Erection of one detached dwelling and ancillary office/studio accommodation; 
formation of vehicular access; installation of septic tank GRANT 13th December 2013
16/04620/VAR Variation of condition 2 attached to planning permission 12/02874/FUL to allow 
the erection of one detached dwelling, detached double garage and creation of new access 
PCO 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

16/05165/DIS Discharge of conditions 3 (external materials), 4 (commencement of ground 
works), 5 (landscape scheme) and 6 (foul/surface water drainage) relating to planning 
permission 12/02874/FUL for the erection of a single detached dwelling with ancillary home 
office/studio accommodation GRANT 29th November 2016

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Councillor Gwilym Butler
Local Member  
Cllr Rob Gittins
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans and 
drawings 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

  2. All gutters, downpipes, soil and vent pipes and other external plumbing shall be of cast 
iron or cast aluminium.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

  3. No construction (and/or demolition) works shall take place before 07:30 am on 
weekdays and 08:00 am on Saturdays nor after 18:00 pm on weekdays and 13:00 pm on 
Saturdays; nor at anytime on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason:  To protect the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties from potential nuisance.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  4. No development approved by this permission shall commence until the applicant has 
notified Shropshire Council's Historic Environment Team not less than three weeks prior to 
commencement of ground works, and to provide him/her with reasonable access in order to 
monitor the ground works and to record any archaeological evidence as appropriate.   
               
Reason: In the interest of archaeological remains.

  5. No development approved by this permission shall commence until there has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping and these 
works shall be carried out as approved. The submitted scheme shall include:   
               
            - Means of enclosure   
            - Hard surfacing materials   
            - Planting plans   
            - Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment)   
            - Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate   
            - Implementation timetables   
               
Reason:  To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by appropriate landscape design.

  6. No development shall take place until a scheme of foul drainage, and surface water 
drainage has been submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme shall be completed before the development is occupied.   
               
Reason:  To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site and to avoid flooding.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

  7. Details of the roof construction including details of eaves, undercloaks ridges, valleys 
and verges shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
the development commences.  The development shall be carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

  8. Prior to the above ground works commencing samples and details of the roofing 
materials and the materials to be used in the construction of the external walls shall be  
submitted to and  approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.

  9. Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved details for the parking, 
turning, loading and unloading of
vehicles have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning. The approved scheme 
shall be laid out and surfaced prior to the first occupation of the development and thereafter be 
kept clear and maintained at all times for that purpose.
Reason: To avoid congestion in the surrounding area and to protect the amenities of the area.

 10. Details of exterior soil and vent pipes, waste pipes, rainwater goods, boiler flues and 
ventilation terminals, meter boxes, exterior cabling and electrical fittings shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of works. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 11. Prior to their installation full details of the roof windows shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The installation of the windows shall be 
carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 12. Prior to the commencement of work, details of the brick bond and type, shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following this approval, a 
freestanding sample panel of brickwork of approximately 1m square shall be provided on site 
and the mortar mix, colour, texture and joint finish shall be inspected and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before the relevant works commence.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 13. Prior to the commencement of the relevant work  details of all external windows and 
doors and any other external joinery shall be  submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These shall include full size details, 1:20 sections and 1:20 elevations of 
each joinery item which shall then be indexed on elevations on the approved drawings. All 
doors and windows shall be carried out in complete accordance with the agreed details



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 14. The access apron shall be constructed in accordance with Shropshire Councils 
specification currently in force for a residential dwelling and shall be fully implemented prior to 
the dwelling being occupied.
Reason: To ensure the formation and construction of a satisfactory access in the interests of 
highway safety.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 15. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification, no access gates or other means of closure shall be erected within 5.0 metres of 
the highway boundary.
Reason: To provide for the standing of parked vehicles clear of the highway carriageway in the 
interests of highway safety.

Informatives

 1. In arriving at this decision Shropshire Council has used its best endeavours to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner to secure an appropriate outcome as required 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 38.

 2. Does your development require utility connections?
Any works/activities carried out either by, or on behalf of, the developer, whether they are 
located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined under Section 87 of 
the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public highway, shall be co-
ordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act (NRSWA) 1991 and 
the Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004 and licensed accordingly by the Street/Highway 
Authority in order to secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to 
users  of the highway network in Shropshire. Developers must also inform undertakers of their 
proposed works, to jointly identify any affected apparatus, and to agree diversion or protection 
measures and corresponding payment.

Any such works or activities commissioned by the developer and particularly those involving 
the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co-ordinated by them in liaison with Shropshire 
Council Street Works Team. To allow effective co-ordination contact must be made with the 
Street Works Team at least three months in advance of the commencement of the works and 
any subsequent applications must be in line with the noticing requirements of the NRSWA 
1991, TMA 2004 and Highways Act 1980. The developer must particularly ensure that statutory 
undertaker connections/supplies to the site are co-ordinated to take place wherever possible at 
the same time and using the same Traffic Management measures. 
For more information please contact Streetworks@shropshire.gov.uk or 
https://shropshire.gov.uk/roads-and-highways/application-forms-and-charges/

Reason: In order to minimise disruption to road users, be they pedestrians or vehicular traffic, 
under the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic 
Management Act 2004. In order to satisfy the licensing requirements of the Highways Act 1980.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

 3. The land and premises referred to in this planning permission are the subject of an 
Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  The S106 may 
include the requirement for a financial contribution and the cost of this should be factored in 
before commencing the development.  By signing a S106 agreement you are legally obliged to 
comply with its contents, irrespective of any changes to Planning Policy or Legislation.

 4. 1. SuDS Applicability for the site is Infiltration. The use of soakaways should be 
investigated in the first instance for surface water disposal. Percolation tests and the sizing of 
the soakaways should be designed in accordance with BRE Digest 365. Full details, 
calculations, dimensions and location plan of the percolation tests and the proposed 
soakaways should be submitted for approval.
Surface water should pass through a silt trap or catchpit prior to entering the soakaway to 
reduce sediment build up within the soakaway.
Should soakaways are not feasible, drainage calculations to limit the discharge rate from the 
site equivalent to a 5.0 l/s runoff rate should be submitted for approval. The attenuation 
drainage system should be designed so that storm events of up to 1 in 100 year + 35% for 
climate change will not cause flooding of any property either within the proposed development 
or any other in the vicinity.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed surface water drainage systems for the site are fully 
compliant with regulations and are of robust design.

2. If non permeable surfacing is used on the new access, driveway and parking area or the new 
access/ driveway slope towards the highway, the applicant should submit for approval a 
surface water drainage system to intercept water prior to flowing on to the public highway. 
Reason: To ensure that no surface water runoff from the new access/ driveway run onto the 
highway.

3. Full details and sizing of the proposed septic tank including percolation tests for the drainage 
fields should be submitted for approval including the Foul Drainage Assessment Form (FDA1 
Form). British Water Flows and Loads: 4 should be used to determine the number of persons 
for the proposed development i.e. for a 3 bedroom dwelling, the population equivalent should 
be 5 and the sizing of the septic tank and drainage fields should be designed to cater for a 
minimum of 5 persons and in accordance with the Building Regulations H2 Paragraph 1.18. 
These documents should also be used if other form of treatment on site is proposed.
Reason: To ensure that the foul water drainage system complies with the Building Regulations 
H2.

4. As part of the SuDS, the applicant should consider employing measures such as the 
following:
Water Butts
Rainwater harvesting system
Permeable surfacing on any new access, driveway, parking/paved area
Attenuation
Greywater recycling system
Green roofs
Reason: To ensure that, for the disposal of surface water drainage, the development is 
undertaken in a sustainable manner.

 5. Nesting birds informative 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

The active nests of all wild birds are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). An active nest is one being built, contains eggs or chicks, or on which fledged 
chicks are still dependent. 

It is a criminal offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird; to take, damage or destroy an active 
nest; and to take or destroy an egg. There is an unlimited fine and/or up to six months 
imprisonment for such offences.

All vegetation clearance, tree removal and/or scrub removal should be carried out outside of 
the bird nesting season which runs from March to August inclusive.

If it is necessary for work to commence in the nesting season then a pre-commencement 
inspection of the vegetation for active bird nests should be carried out. If vegetation cannot be 
clearly seen to be clear of nests then an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist 
should be called in to carry out the check. No clearance works can take place with 5m of an 
active nest.

If during construction birds gain access to the building and begin nesting, work must cease until 
the young birds have fledged.

General site informative for wildlife protection

The following procedures should be adopted to reduce the chance of killing or injuring small 
animals, including reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs.

If piles of rubble, logs, bricks, other loose materials or other potential refuges are to be 
disturbed, this should be done by hand and carried out during the active season (March to 
October) when the weather is warm. 

Areas of long and overgrown vegetation should be removed in stages. Vegetation should first 
be strimmed to a height of approximately 15cm and then left for 24 hours to allow any animals 
to move away from the area. Arisings should then be removed from the site or placed in habitat 
piles in suitable locations around the site. The vegetation can then be strimmed down to a 
height of 5cm and then cut down further or removed as required. Vegetation removal should be 
done in one direction, towards remaining vegetated areas (hedgerows etc.) to avoid trapping 
wildlife.

The grassland should be kept short prior to and during construction to avoid creating attractive 
habitats for wildlife.

All building materials, rubble, bricks and soil must be stored off the ground, e.g. on pallets, in 
skips or in other suitable containers, to prevent their use as refuges by wildlife.

Where possible, trenches should be excavated and closed in the same day to prevent any 
wildlife becoming trapped. If it is necessary to leave a trench open overnight then it should be 
sealed with a close-fitting plywood cover or a means of escape should be provided in the form 
of a shallow sloping earth ramp, sloped board or plank. Any open pipework should be capped 
overnight. All open trenches and pipework should be inspected at the start of each working day 
to ensure no animal is trapped. 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

Any common reptiles or amphibians discovered should be allowed to naturally disperse. Advice 
should be sought from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist if large numbers of 
common reptiles or amphibians are present.

If a great crested newt is discovered at any stage then all work must immediately halt and an 
appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist and Natural England (0300 060 3900) should 
be contacted for advice. The Local Planning Authority should also be informed.

Landscaping informative

Where it is intended to create semi-natural habitats (e.g. hedgerow/tree/shrub/wildflower 
planting), all species used in the planting proposal should be locally native species of local 
provenance (Shropshire or surrounding counties). This will conserve and enhance biodiversity 
by protecting the local floristic gene pool and preventing the spread of non-native species.

 6. Mud on highway
The applicant is responsible for keeping the highway free from any mud or other material
emanating from the application site or any works pertaining thereto.

No drainage to discharge to highway
Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway 
and/or
vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway. No drainage or effluent from
the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway drain or over any 
part of
the public highway.

Works on, within or abutting the public highway
This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to:
- construct any means of access over the publicly maintained highway (footway or verge) or
- carry out any works within the publicly maintained highway, or
- authorise the laying of private apparatus within the confines of the public highway including 
any a
new utility connection, or
- undertaking the disturbance of ground or structures supporting or abutting the publicly
maintained highway
The applicant should in the first instance contact Shropshire Councils Street works team. This 
link
provides further details
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/street-works/street-works-application-forms/
Please note: Shropshire Council require at least 3 months notice of the applicant's intention to
commence any such works affecting the public highway so that the applicant can be provided 
with
an appropriate licence, permit and/or approved specification for the works together and a list of
approved contractors, as required.

Waste Collection
The applicant's attention is drawn to the need to ensure that appropriate facilities are provided, 
for
the storage and collection of household waste, (i.e. wheelie bins & recycling boxes).
Specific consideration must be given to kerbside collection points, in order to ensure that all



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 8 – Colehurst Manor 

visibility splays, accesses, junctions, pedestrian crossings and all trafficked areas of highway 
(i.e.
footways, cycle ways & carriageways) are kept clear of any obstruction or impediment, at all 
times,
in the interests of public and highway safety.
https://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media/2326/shropshire-refuse-and-recycling-planning-
guidanceseptember-
2015.pdf

-





Committee and Date

North Planning Committee

17th September 2019

Item

9
Public

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
Email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 19/02633/FUL Parish: Ellesmere Urban 

Proposal: Erection of a timber building to act as a Cafe/Visitor Centre

Site Address: Swan Hill Depot Swan Hill Ellesmere Shropshire 

Applicant: Shropshire Council

Case Officer: Mark Perry email: planningdmnw@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 340204 - 335107

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 The submitted application is for the erection of a café/ visitor centre at the western 
end of the Mere in Ellesmere. The building will contain a kitchen, toilets, indoor 
seating area and also a covered outdoor seating area. 

1.2 The proposed building would be of a unique design constructed of timber with roof/ 
canopy and decking area taking the form of a leaf. The canopy and the roof 
overhangs will be supported on natural tree trunks. The roof would be planted up to 
create a ‘live’ gutter. 

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site is located within the Ellesmere Conservation Area. The 
proposed building would sit adjacent to the existing children’s playground and the 
traditional buildings that are used as a Council depot. A former pre-fabricated 
timber clad building has already been removed from the depot area creating an 
open space.

2.2 The proposed café would be positioned partly on the yard area of the depot and 
part on the green area adjacent to the children’s play area. This would necessitate 
the removal of a number of trees and a hedgerow which currently forms the 
separating boundary. 

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 

3.1 The application has been submitted on behalf of Shropshire Council and the 
proposal is part of its statutory functions. It must therefore be determined by 
committee.  

4.0 Community Representations

- Consultee Comments
 

4.1 Town Council- Support the planning application

4.2 Ecology- No objection subject to conditions and informative. 

4.3 Natural England- no comments to make on the application. 

4.4 Conservation- no objection subject to conditions. 

4.5 Drainage- no objection subject to conditions. 

4.6 Archaeology- no objection subject to a condition requiring an archaeological 
watching brief during the intrusive groundwork phase of the development. 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

- Public Comments
No representations received at time of writing report

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

Principle of development
Siting, scale and design of structure
Visual impact and landscaping
Impact on Heritage assets
Ecological Impact

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1 Principle of development
6.1.1 Policy CS13 of the Shropshire Council Core Strategy indicates the Council’s 

approach to positively develop and diversify the Shropshire Economy through 
supporting enterprise and delivering sustainable economic growth and prosperous 
communities.  Furthermore policy CS16 encourages appropriate development to 
deliver high quality sustainable tourism, cultural and leisure facilities

6.1.2 The on-site provision of such facilities will enable the centre to potentially attract 
more users and increase its popularity. At the moment there are no food or drink 
facilities close to the children’s playground. The nearest facility is around 560 
metres away where the Boathouse restaurant is located on the south western side 
of the Mere. Prior to the submission of the application the Council surveyed users 
of the Mere to find out how the site could be improved. One of the top 3 
suggestions was for a wider range of food and drink facilities.   

6.1.3 As such the provision of the café will enhance the offerings available at the Mere 
which will help to encourage visitors to come to the Mere and/ or to stay longer. 
The new cafe will also create a small number of employment opportunities and 
generate additional income for the Council.

6.2 Siting, scale and design of structure 
6.2.1 The proposed building has been specifically designed to reflect the unique 

character of its setting, it uses as many natural materials as possible to help it 
reflect its surroundings. Externally the building would be entirely finished in timber; 
utilising a mix of English Oak, sweet chestnut with larch or cedar cladding. The 
proposed ‘leaf’ shaped decking and canopy would further add interest to the 
building and reflect the natural landscape of the mere. 

6.2.2 It is considered that the unique design of the building and the proposed materials 
would enhance this part of the Mere and would integrate with its surroundings. 

6.3 Impact on Heritage Assets
6.3.1 The site is located within the Conservation Area and therefore under section 72 of 

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 there is a 
requirement to consider the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area.

6.3.2 It is considered that the proposal would preserve the character of the Conservation 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

Area and that the new building would not have any detrimental impact on the 
setting of the nearest listed building which is around 30 metres from the edge of the 
application site. The listed building is separated from the Mere by extensive 
vegetation which provides robust amounts of screening. 

6.3 Ecology
6.3.1 The proposed development would involve the removal of 6-8 semi mature ash trees 

which form part of the hedge between the existing depot buildings and the 
children’s play area. Undergrowth shrubs, holly bushes and damson trees would 
also need to be removed. The trees marked for removal are considered to be of low 
quality and offer limited amenity value. The loss of the trees and short length of 
hedgerow would reduce the availability of nesting and foraging opportunities for 
birds however the trees are considered to be unsuitable for bats to roost in. 

6.3.2 It is considered that any limited local harm caused by the loss of vegetation can be 
offset by ensuring that there is appropriate landscaping and that bat and bird boxes 
are installed to provide an appropriate level of mitigation and ecological 
enhancement to the site. 

6.4 Drainage
6.4 The applicant proposes that surface water will discharge to soakaways and foul 

water will go to the mains. Details of any drainage system will need to be submitted 
for approval by a planning condition added to any consent to ensure that there is no 
implication for flooding or pollution. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposed development will provide an improvement to an established and 

popular tourism and recreational facility at an important local attraction. The 
proposed building is considered to be well designed for its unique setting and would 
have a minimal impact upon the character and appearance of the natural 
landscape, the conservation area and nearby listed building.  Therefore the 
proposed development is in accordance with policies CS3, CS6, CS13, CS16 and 
CS17 of the Shropshire Council Core Strategy and polices MD2, MD11, MD12 and 
MD13 of SAMDev. 

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written representations, 
hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The 
courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of 
policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. 
However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather 
than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. 
Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning 
merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) 
in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first 
arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the County 
in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 
they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Core Strategy and Saved Policies:

CS3 - The Market Towns and Other Key Centres
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

CS13 - Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
CS16 - Tourism, Culture and Leisure
CS17 - Environmental Networks
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD11 - Tourism Facilities and Visitor Accommodation
MD12 - Natural Environment
MD13 - Historic Environment

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

19/02633/FUL Erection of a timber building to act as a Cafe/Visitor Centre PDE 

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Councillor Gwilym Butler
Local Member  

Cllr Ann Hartley
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 
amended).

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans and 
drawings 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  3. No development approved by this permission shall commence until the applicant, or 
their agent or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI). This written 
scheme shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of works.

Reason: The site is known to hold archaeological interest.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

  4. Prior to the above ground works commencing samples and/or details of the roofing 
materials and the materials to be used in the construction of the external walls shall be  
submitted to and  approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.

  5. Prior to first use of the building, the makes, models and locations of bat and bird boxes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The following 
boxes shall be erected on the site:
- A minimum of 1 external woodcrete bat box or integrated bat brick, suitable for nursery 
or summer roosting for small crevice dwelling bat species.
- A minimum of 1 artificial nest, of either integrated brick design or external box design, 
suitable for starlings (42mm hole, starling specific), sparrows (32mm hole, terrace design), 
swifts (swift bricks or boxes) and/or house martins (house martin nesting cups).
The boxes shall be sited in suitable locations, with a clear flight path and where they will be 
unaffected by artificial lighting. The boxes shall thereafter be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development. 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

Reason: To ensure the provision of roosting and nesting opportunities, in accordance with 
MD12, CS17 and section 175 of the NPPF.

  6. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans, 
drawings and submitted application forms.
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

  7. No above ground development shall take place until a landscaping plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall include:
a) Planting plans, creation of wildlife habitats and features and ecological enhancements 
(including replacement hedgerow planting);
b) Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant, 
grass and wildlife habitat establishment);
c) Schedules of plants, noting species (including scientific names), planting sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate;
d) Native species used are to be of local provenance (Shropshire or surrounding counties);
e) Details of trees and hedgerows to be retained and measures to protect these from 
damage during and after construction works;
f) Implementation timetables.
The plan shall be carried out as approved. 

Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity and biodiversity afforded by appropriate landscape 
design.

  8. No above ground development shall take place until a scheme of foul drainage, and 
surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is 
occupied/brought into use.

Reason:  To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site and to avoid flooding and pollution.

Informatives

 1. Nesting birds informative 

The active nests of all wild birds are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). An active nest is one being built, contains eggs or chicks, or on which fledged 
chicks are still dependent. 

It is a criminal offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird; to take, damage or destroy an active 
nest; and to take or destroy an egg. There is an unlimited fine and/or up to six months 
imprisonment for such offences.

All vegetation clearance, tree removal, scrub removal and/or conversion, renovation and 
demolition work in buildings (or other suitable nesting habitat) should be carried out outside of 
the bird nesting season which runs from March to August inclusive.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

If it is necessary for work to commence in the nesting season then a pre-commencement 
inspection of the vegetation and buildings for active bird nests should be carried out. If 
vegetation or buildings cannot be clearly seen to be clear of nests then an appropriately 
qualified and experienced ecologist should be called in to carry out the check. Only if there are 
no active nests present should work be allowed to commence.

If during construction birds gain access to the building and begin nesting, work must cease until 
the young birds have fledged.

General site informative for wildlife protection

Widespread reptiles (adder, slow worm, common lizard and grass snake) are protected under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) from killing, injury and trade. Widespread 
amphibians (common toad, common frog, smooth newt and palmate newt) are protected from 
trade. The European hedgehog is a Species of Principal Importance under section 41 of the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. Reasonable precautions should be 
taken during works to ensure that these species are not harmed. 

The following procedures should be adopted to reduce the chance of killing or injuring small 
animals, including reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs.

If piles of rubble, logs, bricks, other loose materials or other potential refuges are to be 
disturbed, this should be done by hand and carried out during the active season (March to 
October) when the weather is warm. 

Areas of long and overgrown vegetation should be removed in stages. Vegetation should first 
be strimmed to a height of approximately 15cm and then left for 24 hours to allow any animals 
to move away from the area. Arisings should then be removed from the site or placed in habitat 
piles in suitable locations around the site. The vegetation can then be strimmed down to a 
height of 5cm and then cut down further or removed as required. Vegetation removal should be 
done in one direction, towards remaining vegetated areas (hedgerows etc.) to avoid trapping 
wildlife.

The grassland should be kept short prior to and during construction to avoid creating attractive 
habitats for wildlife.

All building materials, rubble, bricks and soil must be stored off the ground, e.g. on pallets, in 
skips or in other suitable containers, to prevent their use as refuges by wildlife.

Where possible, trenches should be excavated and closed in the same day to prevent any 
wildlife becoming trapped. If it is necessary to leave a trench open overnight then it should be 
sealed with a close-fitting plywood cover or a means of escape should be provided in the form 
of a shallow sloping earth ramp, sloped board or plank. Any open pipework should be capped 
overnight. All open trenches and pipework should be inspected at the start of each working day 
to ensure no animal is trapped. 

Any common reptiles or amphibians discovered should be allowed to naturally disperse. Advice 
should be sought from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist if large numbers of 
common reptiles or amphibians are present.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 9 – Swan Hill Depot, Ellesmere 

If a great crested newt is discovered at any stage then all work must immediately halt and an 
appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist and Natural England (0300 060 3900) should 
be contacted for advice. The Local Planning Authority should also be informed.

If a hibernating hedgehog is found on the site, it should be covered over with a cardboard box 
and advice sought from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist or the British 
Hedgehog Preservation Society (01584 890 801). 

-



Committee and Date

North Planning Committee

17th September 2019

Item

10
Public

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
Email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 19/02572/FUL Parish: Shrewsbury Town Council 

Proposal: Erection of 2no semi-detached dwellings

Site Address: Prospect House  Belle Vue Road Shrewsbury Shropshire SY3 7NR

Applicant: Furrows Holdings

Case Officer: Toby Cowell email: 
planning.northern@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 349766 - 311849

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

Recommended Reason for Approval 

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of a pair of 3-bedroom semi-
detached dwellings and associated landscaping. The dwellings would be laid out 
over two storeys and incorporate gable fronted windows serving the first floor 
accommodation spanning the eaves in the front elevation, and complimented by 
2 rooflights per dwelling at the rear. 1.8m high close boarded timber fencing 
would enclose the associated amenity area for each dwelling at the side, with a 
combination of varying species of shrubbery and block paving immediately in 
front of each dwelling adjacent to the existing car park.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The site comprises a moderately sized vacant parcel of land consisting of scrub 
and hardstanding (redundant parking) sited directly south (adjacent) of an 
existing residential car park accessed from Belle Vue Road to the west. The site 
is located directly west from the residential apartment block of Prospect House, 
and at the rear of No. 8 Brougham Square (south-east) and No. 47 Belle Vue 
Road (north-west). The site is located within the Belle Vue Conservation Area, 
but not directly visible from Belle Vue Road due to the substantial set back from 
the streetscene (approx. 35m).

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE/DELEGATED DETERMINATION OF 
APPLICATION 

3.1 This application does not meet the criteria for delegated decisions as set out in 
the Council’s adopted ‘Scheme of Delegation’ due to the conflict between the 
Town Council’s objection and the officer recommendation.

4.0 Community Representations

4.1 - Consultee Comments

4.1.1 Shrewsbury Town Council
The Town Council objects to this planning application on the following grounds:

- Members feel that these proposals represent an overdevelopment of a confined 
and narrow space in an existing car park;
- Members are concerned that the application lacks amenity space for the 
residents of the properties;
- With the front doors to the proposed properties opening immediately on to the 
main entrance and car park for Prospect House, Members have expressed 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

concerns in respect of safety issues for both residents of the properties and those 
using the access road to the neighbouring buildings.

4.1.2 SUDS
The technical details submitted for this Planning Application have been appraised 
by WSP UK Ltd, on behalf of Shropshire Council as Local Drainage Authority. No 
objection, subject to conditions and informatives.

4.1.3 SC Conservation
This application follows on from a formal Pre-application enquiry where we 
provided initial comments on potential residential development along the 
southerly boundary of the linear double row of parking spaces accessed off Belle 
Vue Road which provide parking to the now residentially converted Prospect 
House. We have also previously provided comments on applications related to 
the recent conversion of the former Maltings occupying the wider site from office 
use to residential, where this prominent building is considered to comprise a non-
designated heritage asset reflecting the site's industrial past. As noted previously 
this site and the wider area is located within the Belle Vue Conservation Area. 

As recommended in our earlier comments, a heritage impact statement has now 
been prepared relevant to this formal proposal for two semi-detached dwellings 
sited within this very narrow strip of land. The D and A Statement notes that the 
design, scale and form of the proposed dwellings reflects those in the immediate 
area of the site and will pick up traditional materials in the area including red brick 
and a traditional slate roof with lead detailing.

As earlier advised this proposal would require that due regard is given to the 
following local policies and guidance: SC Core Strategy policies CS6 
(Sustainable Design and Development) and CS17 (Environmental Networks), SC 
SAMDEV policies MD2 (Sustainable Design), MD13 (The Historic Environment), 
and with national policies and guidance including the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) revised 2018. In legislative terms Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is applicable in considering 
the impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. 

Having considered the Heritage Impact Assessment I do not disagree with its 
conclusions, and also in principle do not disagree with the design rationale 
described in the D and A Statement in this case for this rather limited and tight 
site. I would refer you to the comments from the Civic Society in terms of possible 
additional greening and improved amenity given the very stark context of this site 
especially to the front of the proposed buildings. 

The design is somewhat plain (but the stepping of the two units and the brick 
pilaster articulation to the front elevation is noted) which however is not 
necessarily a negative aspect of the proposal, but to improve on this a very high 
level of detail and very good quality materials should be strived for, and to that 
end conditions on all external materials (Condition CC1), window and door details 
(based on Condition JJ20) and rooflights (based on Condition JJ8) should be 
imposed should this application be approved, along with any additional 
landscaping measures that could improve the current proposal. Further 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

articulation looking at the brick detailing of Prospect House could also be 
incorporated to improve the design potentially and would better tie the proposed 
dwellings to the earlier main building on the site.

Overall no objection is raised on heritage grounds and in terms of design and 
detailing I would refer you to the recommended conditions noted above and 
related observations and suggestions. 

4.1.4 SC Archaeology
We have no comments to make on this application with respect to archaeological 
matters.

4.1.5 Shrewsbury Civic Society
The Committee is not against development of this somewhat squashed site.  
However, we found it to be a rather strange and slightly off-putting proposal. 

The documentation makes it clear how the pre-application advice has led to 
certain features of the design. For example, it is good to see the use of nearby 
traditional building materials and techniques, such as red brick, slate tiles, 
cambered lintels and pilasters. However, the resultant buildings were not seen as 
having high quality design. Indeed one description was “a bit banal”.

Part of this is the result of the setting which provides only a narrow plot with very 
small garden areas and fronting onto a car park, with little or no space between 
and no possibility of projections such as front-door porches, etc. The planting 
scheme is detailed but the lack of space can provide little mitigation to this very 
“built” environment.  

We feel that there could be some further work done to increase greening and 
mitigate some of the negative aspects of this otherwise well-devised proposal.

Perhaps this application could be further considered.

4.1.6 SC Regulatory Services
Regulatory Services has identified the proposed development site as potentially 
contaminated land due do our knowledge of previous site investigations in the 
area and past potentially contaminative uses both on and adjacent to the site. 
Conditions recommended.

4.1.7 SC Affordable Houses
No comments received at the time of writing the report.

4.1.8 SC Highways
The proposal seeks to erect a pair of semi-detached dwellings within the grounds 
of Prospect House, Belle Vue Road, Shrewsbury. Each new dwelling will be 
allocated two parking spaces. Prospect House has recently been converted into 
apartments and it is considered that the addition of two dwellings would be 
unlikely to significantly impact the current car parking situation or the surrounding 
highway network. 

No objection; subject to conditions and informatives.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

4.2 - Public Comments

4.2.1 This application was advertised via notice at the site. Additionally, the residents 
of 13 neighbouring properties were individually notified by way of publication. At 
the time of writing this report, no letters of representation had been received as a 
result of the publication.

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

5.1 Principle of development
Character and appearance
Residential amenity
Highways
Drainage

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1 Principle of development
6.1.1 Core Strategy Policies CS1, CS3, CS5 and CS11 seek to steer new housing to 

sites within market towns, other ‘key centres’ and certain named villages. Policy 
CS4 also allows for the identification of ‘Community Hubs and Clusters’ within the 
rural area where further housing development can happen; these hubs and 
clusters were designated as part of the adoption of the Council’s Site Allocations 
and Management of Development (SAMDev) plan. 

6.1.2 The NPPF states that the Government attaches great importance to the design of 
the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people. The NPPF also states that one of its core planning 
principles is to encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been 
previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high 
environmental value.

6.1.3 Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure development protects, restores, 
conserves and enhances the natural, built and historic environment and is 
appropriate in scale, density, pattern and design taking into account the local 
context and character, and those features which contribute to local character.

6.1.4 The provision of housing within the urban area of Shrewsbury accords with the 
adopted SAMDev Plan Policy S16. Core Strategy Policy CS2 and MD1 of the 
SAMDev identifies Shrewsbury as the primary focus for housing development for 
Shropshire. S16.1 states that Shrewsbury will provide the primary focus for 
development for Shropshire, as a sub-regional centre and Shropshire’s growth 
point, providing approximately 6,500 dwellings during the period 2006-2026.

6.1.5 The site is located within an existing built-up area within Belle Vue, Shrewsbury, 
and within walking distance to the town centre which benefits from a wide variety 
of good transport links, local shops, services, amenities and facilities. It is 
therefore considered that the application site would constitute a highly 
sustainable location with respect to new residential development, and is located 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

without what primarily comprises an existing residential area within Belle Vue.

6.1.6 It should also be further emphasised that the proposed development would make 
use of an existing brownfield site, and Section 11 of the NPPF places great 
importance on planning policies and decisions giving substantial weight to the 
value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes. Paragraph 
38 of the NPPF also states that decision-makers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible, and it is 
considered that the proposed development would constitute a sustainable and 
effective re-use of an existing brownfield site within an area identified for 
additional housing within the SAMDev. 

6.1.7 Consequently, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable, 
subject to additional considerations including but not limited to the development’s 
impact upon the visual amenities of the locality, including the Conservation Area, 
and the amenities of surrounding residential properties. Such considerations are 
explored further in the latter sections of this report.

6.2 Character and appearance
6.2.1 Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy requires development to be designed to a high 

quality using sustainable design principles, which should be responsive to the 
local character and context of existing development and its wider surroundings. 
Likewise, SAMDev Policy MD2 requires development to respond positively to 
local design aspirations, and be reflective of locally characteristic architectural 
design and details. 

6.2.2 Core Strategy Policy CS17 advises that development proposals will be required 
to protect and enhance the diversity, high quality and local character of
Shropshire’s natural, built and historic environment. SAMDev Policy MD13 further 
advises that Shropshire’s heritage assets will be protected, conserved, 
sympathetically enhanced and restored by ensuring that wherever possible, 
proposals avoid harm or loss of significance to designated or non-designated 
heritage assets, including their settings. Development will also be encouraged 
which delivers positive benefits to heritage assets. Support will be given in 
particular, to proposals which appropriately conserve, manage or enhance the 
significance of a heritage asset including its setting, especially where these 
improve the condition of those assets which are recognised as being at risk or in 
poor condition.

6.2.3 At the national level, Paragraph 192 of the NPPF advises that:

In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

6.2.4 The Conservation Officer is generally supportive of the proposed development, 
especially given the fairly tight and constrained nature of the site. The stepping of 
the two units and brick pilaster articulation to the front elevation is noted and 
considered to provide a degree of interest to the overall design, however a high 
level of detail and good quality materials should be utilised as part of the 
development and this can be controlled by conditions.

6.2.5 Revised plans have also been submitted at the request of the case officer 
showing the insertion of what effectively comprise bricked up windows in the rear 
elevation which adds a degree of articulation and interest when compared to the 
previously proposed blank rear facing wall.

6.2.6 Whilst only a moderate degree of landscaping is noted at the front of the 
proposed dwellings, it is accepted that limited provision for landscaping can be 
accommodated given the site’s narrow and constrained nature. Such landscaping 
as proposed is considered to be sufficient and acceptable in this context, and 
given the resultant development would only be visible from a communal car 
parking area as opposed to more prominent views within Belle Vue Road or more 
significant areas within the public realm. Consequently the limited landscaping 
proposed, whilst noted, is not considered to weigh heavily against the proposed 
development which would, in effect, make good use of a brownfield site.

6.2.7 In general, the design, scale and built vernacular of the proposed development is 
considered to successfully integrate with that of the immediate built environment, 
without detriment to the intrinsic historic character of the wider Conservation 
Officer; especially given its substantial recession from Belle Vue Road of which it 
would not materially impact from a visual standpoint.

6.3 Residential amenity
6.3.1 Policy CS6 and MD2 seek to ensure that development contributes to the health 

and wellbeing of communities, including safeguarding residential and local 
amenity.  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that development ‘creates places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users’.

6.3.2 The lack of first floor windows in the rear elevation of each dwelling proposed 
prevents realistic overlooking with respect to the amenities of existing residential 
properties at the rear, whilst the addition of rear rooflights still allows for each 
dwelling to be afforded sunlight and ventilation from the south. Due to location of 
such dwellings bordering the very rear of the private amenity serving the closest 
adjacent dwelling to the north-west and south-east, the amenities of such 
residential properties would not be materially impacted with respect to 
overshadowing, overdominance or loss of sunlight.

6.3.3 Each dwelling would benefit from a moderate degree of private outdoor amenity 
space to either side. Whilst it is noted that such provision is minimal, it is 
accepted that the constrained nature of the site prevents a greatly level of 
provision to be afforded and, in the context of the site’s location within close 
proximity to the town centre, is considered to be sufficient in this case. Each 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

dwelling would also conform to the Nationally Described Space Standards with 
respect to the gross internal floor area.

6.3.4 Both dwellings would be afforded outdoor space for the storage of refuse bins as 
indicated on the submitted landscaping plan, with easy access to the existing car 
park and the Belle Vue Road streetscene to the west. Concerns have been 
raised from a safety standpoint given the proximity of the front doorways of each 
dwelling to the car park. However, such doorways would not open out onto an 
adopted highway, and indeed actually open onto a moderate block paved area 
directly in front before occupants would step onto the car parking area to access 
their parked cars opposite. Such concerns are therefore not afforded a great deal 
of weight in this case.

6.3.5 In summary, the two dwellings proposed would be afforded a satisfactory level of 
outdoor amenity that would be fully private and enclosed on all sides, whilst 
enjoying acceptable living conditions with respect to the internal level of space 
and outlook to the front over the existing car park. The proposed development is 
therefore considered to be acceptable in this respect.

6.4 Highways
6.4.1 Policy CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development Principles’ of the Shropshire 

Core Strategy indicates that proposals likely to generate significant levels of traffic 
should be located in accessible locations where there are opportunities for walking, 
cycling and use of public transport can be maximised and the need for car based 
travel to be reduced. This policy also indicates that development should be 
designed to be safe and accessible to all.

6.4.2 The Highways Authority have raised no objection to the proposed development 
and consider that the addition of two further dwellings would not significantly impact 
the current parking situation or the surrounding highway network. It is noted that 
each dwelling would be allocated two parking spaces within the adjacent car park 
which would be sold together with each property. Such provision is considered to 
be acceptable, and no further concerns are raised from a highways standpoint.

6.5 Drainage
6.5.1 Policy CS18 ‘Sustainable Water Management’ of the Shropshire Core Strategy 

indicates that development should integrate measures of sustainable water 
management to reduce flood risk, avoid an adverse impact on water quality and 
quantity and provide opportunities to enhance biodiversity. The proposal has 
been assessed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer who has not raised any 
objection, provided that details pursuant to surface and foul water drainage are 
provide prior to the commencement of development by way of condition and an 
informative in relation to sustainable drainage principles is attached to any 
approval notice issued. In view of the above it is considered that an appropriate 
drainage system can be installed to meet the requirements of the NPPF and 
Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy.

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposals are considered to constitute an effective and sustainable use of 
previously development land, with the principle of development deemed 
acceptable within an existing residential area. Moreover, such development is not 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

considered to adversely impact the visual amenities of the immediate locality, 
including the wider Conservation Area, nor unduly impact the amenities of 
surrounding residential properties, or pose a detrimental impact upon the local 
highway network.

The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to conditions as 
recommended in Appendix 1. 

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written 
representations, hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. 
The courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication 
of policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural 
justice. However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, 
rather than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although 
they will interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or 
perverse. Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its 
planning merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) 
promptly and b) in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make 
the claim first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the 
County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning 
Committee members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on 
the scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable 
of being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar 
as they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter 
for the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:

West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy Policies:

Core Strategy and Saved Policies:

CS2 - Shrewsbury Development Strategy
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS17 - Environmental Networks
CS19 - Waste Management Infrastructure
MD1 - Scale and Distribution of Development
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD13 - Historic Environment
Settlement: S16 - Shrewsbury
National Planning Policy Framework

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

PREAPP/15/00072 Conversion of building to residential use and provision of additional 
residential accommodation within surrounding grounds PREAIP 13th March 2015
15/01786/FUL Change of use from (Use Class) B1 office use to (Use Class) C3 residential use 
(34 apartments) with minor external alterations GRANT 12th April 2016
16/04722/FUL Creation of three additional flats (amendment to 15/01786/FUL previously 
approved for conversion to 34 flats) GRANT 6th July 2017
17/03422/DIS Discharge of Conditions 3 (Joinery), 6 (Tree Protection), 7 (Bat Tiles/Bricks) and 
8 (Bin/Recycling Store) on Planning Permission 16/04722/FUL for the  creation of three 
additional flats (amendment to 15/01786/FUL previously approved for conversion to 34 flats) 
DISAPP 1st December 2017
17/03642/DIS Discharge of Condition 4 (Landscaping) on Planning Permission 16/04722/FUL 
for the creation of three additional flats (amendment to 15/01786/FUL previously approved for 
conversion to 34 flats) DISAPP 1st December 2017



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

18/03037/TCA To Fell 30No Yew Trees within the Shrewsbury Conservation Area CBR 3rd 
August 2018
PREAPP/19/00065 Erection of up to 3no. dwellings within the site of Prospect House (Car Park 
area) PREAMD 3rd April 2019
19/02572/FUL Erection of 2no semi-detached dwellings PDE 
SA/90/1307 Fitting uot of office suite and installation of gas boiler and central heating system 
APPRET 
SA/88/0081 Detailed application for the change of use from Malthouse to Use Class A2 
(Financial and Professional Services); Class A3 (Food and Drink (Canteen Facilities)) and 
Class B1 (Business); as defined in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, 
with associated access arrangements and car parking, and internal/external alterations to 
Malthouse. PERCON 5th August 1988
SA/84/0908 Alterations to widen an existing vehicular access from Bynner Street and the 
erection of entrance gates. PERCON 16th November 1984
SA/80/0619 Removal of the terminal vent section of the malt kiln roof and replacement at a 
lower level. PERCON 1st July 1980
SA/85/0739 Replace unsafe metal cone on top of No. 2 kiln with one similar in appearance to 
that on No. 1 kiln. PERCON 26th September 1985
SA/01/0100 Installation of a 600mm satellite dish to the rear elevation. WDN 19th March 2001
SA/04/0143/TRE Various works to trees in Shrewsbury (Belle Vue) Conservation Area 
NOOBJC 10th March 2004
SA/01/1471/CIR Installation of 3 external air cooled condenser units on the existing balcony 
areas, at third floor level. (amended description) NOOBJC 20th February 2002
SA/01/1261/F Installation of a 60cm diameter satellite dish on rear elevation. PPNREQ 11th 
October 2001

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Councillor Gwilym Butler
Local Member  

 Cllr Kate Halliday
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 
amended).

  2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans and 
drawings 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  3. Prior to the above ground works commencing samples and/or details of the 
roofing materials and the materials to be used in the construction of the external walls 
shall be  submitted to and  approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.

  4. Prior to their installation full details of the roof windows shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The installation of the windows 
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the 
Heritage Asset.

  5. Prior to the commencement of the relevant work  details of all external windows 
and doors and any other external joinery shall be  submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  These shall include full size details, 1:20 sections and 
1:20 elevations of each joinery item which shall then be indexed on elevations on the 
approved drawings. All doors and windows shall be carried out in complete accordance 
with the agreed details
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the 
Heritage Asset.

  6. No development shall take place until a scheme of surface and foul water 
drainage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is 
occupied/brought into use (whichever is the sooner).
Reason: The condition is a pre-commencement condition to ensure satisfactory 
drainage of the site and to avoid flooding.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT

  7. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
plan PL-007A.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation / use of any part of the 



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

development hereby approved.  Any trees or plants that, within a period of five years after 
planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged or defective, shall be replaced with others of species, size and number as originally 
approved, by the end of the first available planting season.
Reason:  To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable standard of 
landscape in accordance with the approved designs.

  8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no development relating to schedule 2 part 1 classes A - E shall be erected, 
constructed or carried out. 
Reason:  To maintain the scale, appearance and character of the development and to 
safeguard residential and / or visual amenities.

Informatives

 1. In arriving at this decision Shropshire Council has used its best endeavours to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner to secure an appropriate outcome as required 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 38.

 2. This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to:

- construct any means of access over the publicly maintained highway
(footway or verge) or
- carry out any works within the publicly maintained highway, or
- authorise the laying of private apparatus within the confines of the public
highway including any new utility connection, or
- undertaking the disturbance of ground or structures supporting or abutting
the publicly maintained highway

The applicant should in the first instance contact Shropshire Councils Street works team. This 
link provides further details
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/street-works/street-works-application-forms/

Please note: Shropshire Council require at least 3 months' notice of the applicant's intention to 
commence any such works affecting the public highway so that the applicant can be provided 
with an appropriate licence, permit and/or approved specification for the works together and a 
list of approved contractors, as required.

 3. In the planning application, it state that the surface water from the proposed 
development is to
be disposed of directly to a main sewer. Such a connection must not be made, as it can result 
in
increased flood risk elsewhere.

The use of soakaways should be investigated in the first instance for surface water disposal.
Percolation tests and the sizing of the soakaways should be designed in accordance with BRE
Digest 365 to cater for a 1 in 100 year return storm event plus an allowance of 35% for climate
change. Alternatively, we accept soakaways to be designed for the 1 in 10 year storm event
provided the applicant should submit details of flood routing to show what would happen in an



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

'exceedance event' above the 1 in 10 year storm event. Flood water should not be affecting 
other
buildings or infrastructure. Full details, calculations, dimensions and location plan of the
percolation tests and the proposed soakaways should be submitted for approval.

Surface water should pass through a silt trap or catchpit prior to entering the soakaway to 
reduce
sediment build up within the soakaway.

Should soakaways are not feasible, drainage calculations should limit the discharge rate from 
the
site equivalent to 5.0 l/s runoff rate should be submitted for approval. The attenuation drainage
system should be designed so that storm events of up to 1 in 100 year + 35% for climate 
change
will not cause flooding of any property either within the proposed development or any other in 
the
vicinity.

 4. Urban creep is the conversion of permeable surfaces to impermeable over time e.g. 
surfacing of
front gardens to provide additional parking spaces, extensions to existing buildings, creation of
large patio areas.

The appropriate allowance for urban creep must be included in the design of the drainage 
system
over the lifetime of the proposed development. The allowances set out below must be applied 
to
the impermeable area within the property curtilage:

Residential Dwellings per hectare Change allowance % of impermeable area
Less than 25 10
30 8
35 6
45 4
More than 50 2
Flats & apartments 0

Note: where the inclusion of the appropriate allowance would increase the total impermeable 
area
to greater than 100%, 100% should be used as the maximum.

Curtilage means area of land around a building or group of buildings which is for the private 
use of
the occupants of the buildings.

 5. If non permeable surfacing is used on the new access, driveway and parking area or the 
new
access slopes toward the highway, the applicant should submit for approval a drainage system 
to
ensure that no surface water runoff from the new access run onto the highway.



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 10 – Prospect House, Belle Vue Road 

 6. The proposed method of foul water sewage disposal should be identified and submitted 
for
approval, along with details of any agreements with the local water authority and the foul water
drainage system should comply with the Building Regulations H2.

-





Committee and Date

North Planning Committee

17th September 2019

Item

11
Public

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
Email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 
252619

SCHEDULE OF APPEALS AS AT COMMITTEE 17th September 2019

Appeals Lodged

LPA reference 18/05730/PMBPA
Appeal against Non - determination

Committee or Del. Decision
Appellant Mrs Barbara Mayer
Proposal Application for Prior Approval under Part3, Class MB 

of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (Amendment & Consequential 
Provisions) (England) Order 2014 for the change of 
use from agricultural use to residential use

Location Barn south of Hill Top, Welshampton, Ellesmere, 
SY12 0NN

Date of appeal 26.07.2019
Appeal method Written Representations

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision

Costs awarded
Appeal decision

LPA reference 19/02200/AGR
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr E Jackson
Proposal Agricultural building to be used as storage
Location Lane Farm, St Martins, Oswestry

Date of appeal 15.08.2019
Appeal method Written Reps

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision

Costs awarded
Appeal decision

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 11 – Appeals and Appeal Decisions 

LPA reference 18/02855/CPL
Appeal against Refusal (Not Lawful)

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr Gary Andrew anderson
Proposal Application for Lawful Development Certificate for the 

proposed temporary siting of residential caravan 
during building works

Location Plas Issa, Trefonen, Oswestry, SY10 9DS
Date of appeal 09.07.2019

Appeal method Written Reps
Date site visit

Date of appeal decision
Costs awarded

Appeal decision

LPA reference 17/05629/ENF
Appeal against Enforcement Notice

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr Gary Andrew Anderson and Mrs Natalia 

Romanova
Proposal An application for the siting of a caravan has been 

refused by Shropshire Council -  18/02855/CPL
Location Plas Issa, Trefonen, Oswestry, SY10 9DS

Date of appeal 09.07.2019
Appeal method Written Reps

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision

Costs awarded
Appeal decision

LPA reference 18/05844/OUT
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr E Jackson
Proposal Outline application (all matters reserved) for the 

erection of one detached dwelling and garage - (re-
submission)

Location Land To South West Lane Farm
St Martins
Oswestry

Date of appeal 22.08.2019
Appeal method Written Reps

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision

Costs awarded
Appeal decision



North Planning Committee – 17th September 2019  Agenda Item 11 – Appeals and Appeal Decisions 

LPA reference 19/01274/FUL
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr & Mrs David and Pamela Ward
Proposal Installation of window openings to northeast and 

southeast elevations
Location Hempyards, Osbaston, Knockin, Oswestry, SY10 

8HS
Date of appeal 27.08.2019

Appeal method Written Reps
Date site visit

Date of appeal decision
Costs awarded

Appeal decision

LPA reference 19/01275/LBC
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr & Mrs David and Pamela Ward
Proposal Installation of window openings to northeast and 

southeast elevations
Location Hempyards, Osbaston, Knockin, Oswestry, SY10 

8HS
Date of appeal 27.08.2019

Appeal method Written Reps
Date site visit

Date of appeal decision
Costs awarded

Appeal decision

Appeals Determined

LPA reference 18/05533/FUL
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr and Mrs Paul Hughes
Proposal Two storey extension including balcony on north 

elevation and minor alterations
Location Woodside Cottage, Coed-Yr-Allt, St Martins, SY11 

3DU
Date of appeal 23.05.2019

Appeal method Written Reps
Date site visit 27.06.2019

Date of appeal decision 05.09.2019
Costs awarded

Appeal decision Allowed





 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 27 June 2019 

by Julie Dale Clark BA (Hons) DipTP MCD DMS MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 5th September 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/D/19/3226633 

Woodside Cottage, Pen-Y-Bryn Junction To Junction East Of The Beeches, 

Coed-Yr-Allt, St Martins, SY11 3DU 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Paul Hughes against the decision of Shropshire Council. 

• The application Ref 18/05533/FUL, dated 22 November 2018, was refused by notice 
dated 25 January 2019. 

• The development proposed is proposed enlargement of family room and study at 
ground floor, forming bedroom over and minor alterations. 

 

 

Procedural Matters 

1. The decision notice describes the proposal as the erection of a two storey 

extension including balcony on north elevation and minor alterations and the 
site location as being Woodside Cottage,  Coed-yr-allt, St Martin’s, Oswestry. 

These are more succinct descriptions and so I shall refer to them rather than 

those detailed above and taken from the application form. 

Decision 

2. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the  erection of a 

two storey extension including balcony on north elevation and minor alterations 
at Woodside Cottage,  Coed-yr-allt, St Martin’s, Oswestry SY11 3DU in 

accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 18/05533/FUL, dated 22 

November 2018, subject to the following conditions: 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

2) No development shall take place until details of the materials to be used 

in the construction of external surfaces of the proposal hereby permitted 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details.  

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: 

• 21018/03MAC; 21018/04MAC; 21018/05MAC; and 21018/06MAC. 

Main Issue 

3. I consider that the main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the area and the existing/original dwelling. 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/D/19/3226633 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate2 

Reasons 

4. The appeal site is a detached house in a rural area. It has previously been 

extended. The proposal would enlarge and re-build a ground floor extension 

and erect a new first floor above. There is no question that the proposal, 

together with previous extensions, would alter considerably what the Council 
refer to as originally a two-up two-down cottage. 

5. The National Planning Policy Framework1 establishes the importance of design 

and sustainability and Core Strategy2 CS6 sets out principles for sustainable 

design and development. Further to Policy CS6, SAMDev Plan Policy MD23 

establishes that for a development proposal to be acceptable it is required, 
amongst other things, to respond appropriately to the form and layout of 

existing development and reflect locally characteristic architectural design and 

details. Core Strategy Policy CS17 indicates that the Council will protect and 
enhance the diversity, high quality and local character of Shropshire’s natural, 

built and historic environment. 

6. The Council’s SPD4 indicates the Council’s aspiration that all development 

contributes to a sustainable mix of dwelling types, sizes and tenure. It refers to 

its concern about the size of dwellings in the countryside and the market trend 

to provide larger, more expensive dwellings that exclude the less well-off, 
including those that need to live and work in rural areas.  The Council 

acknowledge that this can be partly addressed through the provision of 

affordable rural dwellings although it is also appropriate to maintain and 
provide an appropriate stock of smaller, lower cost market dwellings.    

7. In controlling the size of rural dwellings, the SPD also notes that consideration 

should be given to the visual impact of large buildings and the need to ensure 

that the development is sympathetic to the character and appearance of the 

original building. 

8. The dwelling has previously been altered and extended beyond what could be 

assumed to be the original dwelling. It is already a substantial sized dwelling 
and, as it stands now, it is unlikely that it would be considered as a small, low 

cost market rural dwelling.  Notwithstanding that the proposal would enlarge 

the dwelling further, as I do not consider it likely that it currently falls into this 
category, my main consideration is the visual impact on the character and 

appearance of the area. 

9. The proposal would refurbish the property and whist it would enlarge it further 

than previous enlargements, it would modernise it. The first floor extension 

would incorporate a considerable amount of glazing which would be designed to 
take advantage of the rural setting and countryside views. Whilst substantial in 

size, I do not consider that it would impinge on the character or appearance of 

the area to a degree as to cause harm. 

10. The proposal would be out of character with the original building but I do not 

consider that the existing building bears much resemblance to its origins. 

                                       
1 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government National Planning Policy Framework, July 2018 (the 

Framework). 
2 Shropshire Council Shropshire Local Development Framework : Adopted Core Strategy March 2011. 
3 Shropshire Council Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan. Adopted Plan 17 th 

December 2015. 
4 Shropshire Council Shropshire Local Development Framework Type and Affordability of Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD), Adopted 12 September 2012. 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/D/19/3226633 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate3 

Therefore, the extension and alterations would not therefore justify withholding 

permission on this basis. In terms of design and visual impact I do not consider 

that the proposal would conflict with the objectives of the policies referred to. 
Nor do I consider that the size and affordability of Woodside Cottage, either as 

it stands or as proposed, would undermine the Council’s aspirations for a mix of 

affordable dwellings including such provision in the countryside. 

11. Suggested conditions are referred to in the Questionnaire in relation to 

matching materials and carrying out the development in accordance with the 
approved plans. I have considered these in the light of the Planning Practice 

Guidance5. The existing dwelling is rendered but the application forms and the 

plans indicate brick. I therefore propose that the finished materials should be 

agreed between the Council and the appellants in order to achieve a 
satisfactory external appearance. Otherwise as set out in this decision and 

conditions, it is necessary that the development is carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans for the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of 
proper planning.  

12. I have considered all other matters raised but none alter my decision. I do not 

consider that the proposal would conflict with the aims or objectives of the 

Framework, the Council’s policies or the SPD. The appeal therefore is allowed. 

 

J D Clark    

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

                                       
5 Planning Practice Guidance, Published 6 March 2014 Last Updated 23 July 2019. 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate



	Agenda
	7 Orchard House, Wem Road, Harmer Hill, Shropshire, SY4 3DS (19/02525/VAR)
	8 Colehurst Manor, Colehurst, Market Drayton, Shropshire, TF9 2JB (16/04620/VAR)
	9 Swan Hill Depot, Swan Hill, Ellesmere, Shropshire (19/02633/FUL)
	10 Prospect House, Belle Vue Road, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY3 7NR (19/02572/FUL)
	11 Appeals and Appeal Decisions
	Agenda Item 11 Appendix 1 Appeal Decision Woodside Cottage


